73125-4

73135-4

#### Case No. 73125-4

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THOMAS CLARK and ALYSON CLARK, husband and wife,

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

v.

ANDELLE TENG, MD, and CASCADE SURGERY ASSOCIATES, PLLC dba CASCADE ORTHOPAEDICS,

Defendants/Appellants.

#### APPELLANTS' REPLY BRIEF

Bertha Baranko Fitzer, WSB#12184 Jennifer Merringer Veal, WSB#41942 Fitzer, Leighton & Fitzer, P.S. 1102 Broadway, Suite 401 Tacoma, WA, 98402 (253) 683-4501 bertha@flfps.com jen@flfps.com

Jeffrey I. Tilden, WSB# 12219 Gordon Tilden Thomas & Cordell, LLP 1001 Fourth Avenue, Suite 4000 Seattle WA 98154 (206) 467-6477 jtilden@gordontilden.com

## **

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiffs' Reply Brief contains five fatal errors. First, using inappropriately selected quotations, hyperbole and statements taken out of context, plaintiffs attempt to persuade this Court that defense counsel was disrespectful and flaunted the trial court's orders. Second, plaintiffs sidestep the fundamental issue on appeal: that there is no authority permitting a trial court to remove causation from jury consideration in the absence of a motion challenging the sufficiency of the evidence. Third, by ignoring the issue of the legal justification for removing causation via a motion in limine, plaintiffs fall back to an abuse of discretion standard in a case that must be analyzed as an error of law. Fourth, plaintiffs fail to explain how Dr. Teng can be legally responsible for an injury in an area where he did not operate. Finally, plaintiffs fail to analyze the individual acts of alleged misconduct in context of the causation and credibility issues from which they arose.

This Reply addresses each of these flaws. Part II.A outlines a proposed process for analyzing the record. Part II. B discusses the misperception, propounded by plaintiffs, that the trial court found direct violations of the order in limine regarding non-party fault *during* the trial. Part III. A identifies some of the more egregious manipulations of the record contained in Plaintiffs' Brief. Part III. B briefly discusses the

standard of review. Part III. C discusses those examples of "misconduct" that directly rebutted plaintiffs' causation theory. Part III. D discusses those examples of "misconduct" that impeached Dr. Wohns' credibility. Part III. E discusses the three alleged incidents of violations pertaining to the motion in limine for conditions above the waist, the one motion that generated substantial concern and findings by the trial court. The last section addresses the request for additional terms.

#### II. REPLY TO PLAINTIFFS' STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### A. Reply to Statement of Misconduct.

#### 1. Methodology

To assist in understanding the record, the defense has combed the record to locate all objections<sup>1</sup> and citations relevant to this Court's review and listed them in Appendix A. All of the plaintiffs' examples of "misconduct" are contained in Appendix B and assigned specific numbers. These documents will be hyper-linked in a corresponding brief pursuant to RAP 10.9.

2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Appendix A allows review for speaking objections. Unlike *Teter, infra*, there were no attempts to place inadmissible evidence before the jury.

# 2. Plaintiffs inaccurately imply that the trial court found violations of the motion in limine regarding non-party fault during the trial.<sup>2</sup>

Unlike the judge's discussion of the order regarding medical conditions above the waist, during the trial, the court made no direct findings that the defense violated the order regarding non-fault evidence. Plaintiffs raised this issue in a motion brought the day after the defense opening and a second time just before the cross-examination of defense expert, Dr. Nitin Bhatia.

Regarding the opening statement, the judge's discussion demonstrates that he expressed concern primarily about counsel's reference to the plaintiffs' upper spine issues and that he made no findings relating to the non-party fault motion in limine.<sup>3</sup>

The next substantial discussion occurs during the testimony of defense expert, Dr. Nitin Bhatia. *9 RP 1176:16-24*. Without objecting to testimony, plaintiffs requested the right to cross-examine Dr. Bhatia regarding his opinions on Dr. Wohns' standard of care based on the direct. The court agreed, commenting only: "I do believe the door has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Plaintiffs allege, "Defense counsel repeatedly accused Dr. Wohns of negligence in violation of the trial court's order in limine regarding non-party fault." *Respondents' Brief* (hereinafter "RB") at 7. The transcript contains no use of the word negligence or fault in relation to Dr. Wohns, but multiple examples of the defense witnesses refusing to criticize Dr. Wohns. *See Appellants' Opening Brief* at 17 for full discussion of this issue. <sup>3</sup> Review discussion of motion at *3 RP 255-265*.

been opened with the criticisms. Without going there directly, I think indirectly it has been, I agree with that." 9 RP 1177:16-19. The court asked "the parties not to criticize" noting "I would sustain an objection if you objected to that kind of question." 9 RP 1178:8-10. Thereafter, the next substantial discussion of violations of non-party fault order occurred after the defense verdict. See Appendix A.

#### III. REPLY ARGUMENT

A. Respondents' Brief Contains Multiple Misstatements of the Record and/or Improper Inferences as to What Occurred [Examples: 7, 19, & 24].

In an attempt to establish pervasive misconduct, Plaintiffs combine the trial court's statements regarding conditions above the waist with their assertion that the trial judge found repeated violations of the motion in limine regarding non-party fault.<sup>4</sup> Plaintiffs argue, for example:

The trial court declined to give a curative instruction, but made it clear that defense counsel should comply with the court's orders: "You didn't like the ruling, but you agreed with it and you said you would comply with it." 3 RP 260. Defendants' counsel responded: Absolutely." Id.

Respondents' Brief (hereinafter "RB") at 8. This quote omits the introductory phrase that restricted the court's comment to the motion in limine regarding conditions above the waist:

-- everybody agreed in here before, that everything above the waist was off limits. You didn't like the ruling, but you

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> RB at 8.

agreed with it and you said you would comply with it.

**MR. FITZER**: *Absolutely*. And I don't -- I haven't seen the transcript. If I said neck, I was in err and I apologize.

THE COURT: That's my recollection.

3 RP 260:12-19.

Example 7 cites the following language as aggravating the alleged violation regarding when Dr. Teng met Mr. Clark: "And when you met Mr. Clark for his low back problem, did you have access to his earlier records and imaging at Cascade?" RB at 8 (emphasis in original). The writer then argues that defense counsel further violated the order by "pushing" for an answer "even after Dr. Teng pointed out to counsel that he saw Mr. Clark for a 'different reason.'" RB at 8:26. This argument misrepresents the testimony. The question directed Dr. Teng to prior records regarding Mr. Clark's previous treatment for his lower back problems.<sup>5</sup>

**Example 19** discusses the claim that "over-sewing the wound caused Mr. Clarks' meningitis." The *trial judge* elicited this testimony by asking an approved question from a *juror*. 9 RP 1228:11-21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The next questions refer to the imaging study done before Mr. Clark met with Dr. Teng. 6 RP 805:1-13. These records were part of Dr. Teng's decision to perform surgery. See, e.g., 10 RP 1272-73. The records, and testimony regarding Cascade Orthopedics' prior treatment of Mr. Clark's lumbar back issues, were never subject to the motion in limine and were admitted without objection. CP 315.

**Example 24** cites in part to *RP 1362*, which is testimony elicited by plaintiffs' counsel.

An additional example of selective use of quotations occurs on page 31, where plaintiffs argue:

After this, the trial court correctly found that defense counsel had clearly argued, contrary to its order in limine regarding non-party fault, that Dr. Wohns had acted improperly: "I think you would have had to have been asleep to not get that clear inference." 11 RP 1570-71.

RB 31 (emphasis added). By placing the quotation immediately following the statement that the "trial court correctly found that defense counsel had violated the motion in limine" the author implies that the quote is the *judge* 's criticism of *defense counsel* for *misconduct* relating to the order on non-party fault. It is not. Plaintiffs appropriated this quote from the trial court's ruling on the *defense* motion for mistrial:

**THE COURT**: All right. In terms of Dr. Wohns, the clear inference of the testimony presented by the defense through their experts and through Dr. Teng was that Dr. Wohns was inaccurate and not forthright in his testimony and what he said to the jury and what he told people he found during the course of his first surgery.

I think you would have had to have been asleep to not get that clear inference. And so I don't like the word "lying," but I honestly believe that that is a conclusion that would have been reasonable for the jurors to make, given the information and evidence that had been presented to them by the defense.

And so I made a ruling on that, I stand by that ruling, I think it's warranted under the facts that have occurred during this trial. It's for the jury to decide on Dr. Wohns's credibility, just as they have to decide on every witness's credibility. It's for them to decide whether or not he was accurate in his description of what he found after his first surgery, and in what he did and in his opinions. And that's just like every other witness.

#### 11 RP 1570:19-1571:13.

On page one plaintiffs cite to RP 1195.<sup>6</sup> This incomplete quote is taken from Mrs. Fitzer's argument on *post-trial* motions made in direct response to a criticism<sup>7</sup> of Mr. Fitzer, who was not even in the courtroom:

The Court has made a very serious accusation, and with due respect, Your Honor, I need to address that. Because, in fact, from this side of the bench and this side of the courtroom, with due respect, you, as the judge, acted in a way in this case that suggested that you did not recall that you had a robe on. And I am sorry to say it in that fashion, but I will give you examples.

12 RP 1595:18-24. Counsel offered examples and noted that the defense had raised the concern regarding impartiality with the court several times before the verdict. 12 RP 1597-98. Counsel closed her argument with:

Because, though you wear a robe, when the Court makes an incorrect or unfair ruling, the responsibility of the lawyer is to stand up and say, No. Wait a minute. You're wrong. And a lot of times judges don't like being told they're wrong. And I can see how it may seem like there was a deliberate intent to get around your rulings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Plaintiffs' citation to the record is incorrect. The quote is from 12 RP 1595.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> "It seemed to me that there were a couple of days that he [Mr. Fitzer] might have forgotten that I was actually now wearing a robe." *12 RP 1587:13-14*.

But here's my last point: Why would we do that on these issues? What benefit would there be, what prejudice is there associated with a breathing machine or with the fact that Dr. Teng met him before? If we were going to deliberately flaunt your rulings, does that make sense that a skilled trial lawyer would somehow sneak in the fact that the guy had Proposed Pr

#### 12 RP 1599:23-1600:16.

B. Because the trial judge's order exercises no discretion when removing contested issues from the jury's consideration, the correct standard of review is de novo, not abuse of discretion.

The abuse of discretion standard applies "when it's not based on an error of law." *Teter v. Deck,* 174 Wn.2d 207, 222, 274 P.3d 336 (2012). Plaintiffs fail to explain how that standard can apply where the plaintiffs seek to remove, through motions in limine, the issue of whether Dr. Wohns caused plaintiff's injury. Here, plaintiffs justify the court's order by arguing that the order in limine precluded evidence "suggesting that Dr. Wohns violated the standard of care *or caused any of the injuries sustained by Mr. Clark.*" *RB* 6 (emphasis added). What they do not explain is the procedural mechanism that gave the trial judge the authority

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The medical condition has been blacked out of this brief to protect Mr. Clark's privacy.

to remove this contested issue from the jury's consideration.<sup>9</sup>

Determination of what occurred; cause in fact, is left to the jury. *Hartley* v. *State*, 103 Wn.2d 768, 778, 698 P. 2d 77 (1985). Only if a reasonable person could reach only one conclusion, can this issue be removed from the jury's consideration. *Lamon v. McDonnell Douglas Corp.*, 91 Wn.2d 345, 350, 588 P.2d 1346 (1979).

These motions are reviewed de novo because "No element of discretion is lodged in the trial court in such matters unless it can be held as a matter of law that there is no evidence or reasonable inferences therefrom to sustain a verdict for the opposing party." *Brown v. Dahl*, 41 Wn. App. 565, 573, 705 P.2d 781 (1985); *Lambert v. Smith*, 54 Wn.2d 348, 340 P.2d 774 (1959). Plaintiffs did not even attempt to meet, or address, this standard.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The order on reconsideration refers to the judge denying plaintiffs' motion for directed verdict. *CP 661*. This motion was actually a motion for default as a requested sanction for **Example 8**, Dr. Bhatia's testimony concerning Dr. Teng's in-hospital progress note. "[T]he defense has systematically violated basically every motion in limine related to that topic. And at this point, we ask the Court to do -- to enter a default because I don't think it's fair to give us a mistrial." *PRP 1133:5-8*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See also, Osborn v. Mason County, 157 Wn.2d 18, 22, 134 P.3d 197 (2006) (Motion for summary judgment presents a question of law reviewed de novo).

C. Examples of the defense discussing the temporal sequence of events represent legitimate evidence and argument rebutting plaintiffs' theory of causation and therefore cannot support the order granting a new trial<sup>11</sup> [Examples 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 & 9].

Fault requires both a negligent act and causal link to the injury.

RCW 4.22.015. WPI 15.01 defines proximate cause as a cause "which in a direct sequence produces the injury and without which such injury would not have happened." Our courts recognize:

The doctrine of proximate cause in Washington entails the two elements of cause in fact and legal causation. Cause in fact refers to the "but for" consequences of an act; it is the physical connection between an act and an injury. Cause in fact is generally a question for the jury, but it may become a question of law for the court when the facts are undisputed and the inferences therefrom are plain and incapable of reasonable doubt or difference of opinion.

Christian v. Lee, 113 Wn.2d 479, 507-08, 780 P.2d 1307 (1989) (citations omitted); see also Lowman v. Wilbur, 178 Wn.2d 165, 169, 309 P.3d 387 (2013).

Here, from the outset, the defense challenged "cause in fact," the physical connection between Dr. Teng's surgery and the CSF leak. That challenge had three elements. First, the defense offered proof that the CSF leak was not present following Dr. Teng's surgery. Second, the defense

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> CP 474, ¶6 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Ex. 164; 165; 7 RP 850; 900-02. The only radiologist in the case, Dr. Kim testified: "It [CSF] doesn't look like that."

showed the jury that the CSF leak was present after Dr. Wohns' operation. Third, the defense experts showed the jury that the leak was located and repaired in an area of the spine in which *only* Dr. Wohns had operated. 4

Examples 1, 2, 3, 4 & 5<sup>15</sup> are taken from the defense opening which discussed the temporal sequence of events through sequential PowerPoint slides demonstrating when the CSF leak occurred. These examples all rebut cause in fact.

The complaint of improper closing argument contained in<sup>17</sup> **Example 9** refers to the timing of postural headaches. Mr. Clark did not have postural headaches after Dr. Teng's surgery.<sup>18</sup> He first had one immediately following Dr. Wohns' first procedure. <sup>19</sup> This testimony corroborated the defense theory that Dr. Wohns, not Dr. Teng, caused the leak.

 $<sup>^{13}</sup>$  7 RP 920-21. Dr. Kim testified: "There's a large fluid collection in the back here that was not present after the---on the prior MRI." *Id. At* 920:23-25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Ex. 175: 7 RP 976-981.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> These examples correspond with the trial court's findings at *CP 473* which included incorrect recitations of the record because the court simply copied verbatim a section of plaintiffs' brief. *See Opening Brief at 37-38*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> These same slides were admitted, without objection as illustrative exhibits 164 and 165. *CP 318; 7 RP 850. Compare* PowerPoint at *Appellants' Opening Brief* Appendix B with Exs. 164 and 165

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> There were no objections at the time of the closing or immediately following it. These issues were first raised in the motion for new trial, and/or in Respondent's brief on appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> 4 RP 513:15-18; 5 RP 611:16-21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> 6 RP 16-221.

Relying in part on the incorrect recitation of the opening contained in plaintiffs' pocket brief, the trial court based the order for new trial on the defense attack on causation. *CP 473* ("Defense counsel clearly stated that Dr. Wohns was at fault *and caused the problems the Plaintiff now suffers.*"); *CP 474* ("It was obvious to the Court that the theme of the Defense counsel's case was that any injuries sustained by the plaintiff were caused by Dr. Wohns, not the defendant. This continued throughout the trial.") (emphasis added). The court is correct that this was defendants' theme, but is incorrect in suggesting that he had authority to remove causation without applying the correct analysis.

The court is also incorrect in stating "the defense counsel clearly stated that Dr. Wohns was at fault." None of the cited examples combine temporal analysis with statements regarding negligence, breach of the standard of care, or fault as defined in RCW 4.22.015. In granting an order for new trial based on causation, the trial court violated the proposition that the right to trial by jury shall remain inviolate. *Const. art. I, § 21.* One cannot honor that proposition, an essential element of our legal system, by denying a defendant's right to challenge causation through evidence that some other physician caused the plaintiff's injuries.

### D. Examples 10-25 directly challenged Dr. Wohns' credibility.

Plaintiffs do not dispute that credibility is for the jury to decide, Hilltop Terrace Homeowners Ass'n v. Island County, 126 Wn.2d 22, 34, 891 P.2d 29 (1995), or the proposition that removal of issues of credibility from the jury's consideration would violate the defendant's right to trial by jury. Placed in context of the plaintiffs' case, these examples directly impeach Dr. Wohns' testimony and challenge his claimed expertise.

The premise that Dr. Teng had injured Mr. Clark rested primarily on Dr. Wohns' testimony that Dr. Teng had botched the surgery by not adequately decompressing the foramen,<sup>20</sup> by not fixing a CSF leak<sup>21</sup> and/or not telling the patient about it,<sup>22</sup> and by leaving bone fragments behind.<sup>23</sup> This testimony was summed up in Dr. Wohns' comment to Mrs. Clark that he had found a "mess," that he had "cleaned it out" and "all went well with him" *4 RP 396:3-5*. As the foundation of plaintiffs' case in chief, the validity of all of these statements, along with Dr. Wohns' motive for making them, and his claimed expertise, all became legitimate bases for impeachment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Foramen was "untouched." 3 RP 218:6-7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> 3 RP 252:12-13 ("U]nrecognized spinal fluid leak caused the cascade of problems that we've just discussed").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> 3 RP 319.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> 3 RP 217:18

Plaintiffs recognized this and constantly focused the jury on Dr. Wohns' credibility and competence.<sup>24</sup> Over defense objection, Mr. Wampold asked Dr. Teng: "Are you telling this jury that Dr. Wohns lied in his operative report? Is that what you're telling this jury?" *10 RP 1357:6-11*. Placed in context of Dr. Wohns' testimony, the examples plaintiffs identify as misconduct go directly to impeach Dr. Wohns' claim that his version of events was true and correct.

Example 11<sup>25</sup> states that it was "improper" for Dr. Wohns not to order a pre-operative MRI. *RB at 14*. This example is taken out of context. The radiologist recommended a follow-up MRI, a fact Dr. Wohns used to buttress his argument that the radiologist had identified a CSF leak caused by Dr. Teng. *3 RP 206-07*. Dr. Kim testified that an MRI would have been simpler to do and would have confirmed the theory. *7 RP 992-93*. The second citation is Dr. Teng explaining that neither he nor Dr. Wohns could establish a CSF leak that occurred after surgery without the follow-up MRI recommended by the radiologist. *10 RP 1389*. Neither witness used the term "improper" or stated that he breached the standard of care.

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