FILED Oct 26, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

No. 73125-4

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

THOMAS CLARK and ALYSON CLARK, husband and wife and the marital community composed thereof,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

v.

ANDELLE TENG, MD, and CASCADE SURGERY ASSOCIATES, PLLC dba CASCADE ORTHOPAEDICS,

Defendants-Appellants.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Leonard J. Feldman, WSBA No. 20961 Michael S. Wampold, WSBA No. 26053 Mallory C. Allen, WSBA No. 45468 PETERSON | WAMPOLD | ROSATO | LUNA | KNOPP 1501 Fourth Avenue, Suite 2800 Seattle, WA 98101 206-624-6800

Attorneys for Plaintiffs-Respondents

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion When It Granted Plaintiffs' Motion For A New Trial Based On Defense Counsel's Numerous Violations Of The Court's Orders In Limine.

The Supreme Court's opinion in *Teter* sets forth the controlling legal principles in this appeal. Judge (now Supreme Court Justice) González found in *Teter* (a medical malpractice case) that the defendant's lawyer repeatedly violated the following orders in limine: "order granting plaintiff's motion in limine regarding evidence that Teter failed to mitigate his damages; order limiting the evidence regarding Dr. Lauter's role in the surgery; and [the] prohibition on speaking objections." 174 Wn.2d at 224. Judge González concluded that the "cumulative effect of defense counsel's misconduct throughout the trial proceedings warrants a new trial, as it casts doubt on whether a fair trial had occurred." *Id.* at 215.

The Supreme Court affirmed. Relevant here, the court found that defense counsel's misconduct "unfairly and improperly exposed the jury to inadmissible evidence [and] prejudiced [the Teters]" and that such prejudice "qualifies as a material effect on the Teters' substantial right to a fair trial." *Id.* at 225. The court likewise found that "[e]ven where objections are sustained, the misconduct is prejudicial because it places opposing counsel in the position of having to make constant objections.

These repeated objections, even if sustained, leave the jury with the impression that the objecting party is hiding something important." *Id.* at 223. Based on this prejudicial misconduct, the Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's order granting a new trial. *Id.*

Here, as in *Teter*, defense counsel repeatedly violated the trial court's orders in limine. In addition to the "three violations" (RP 1133) of the court's order in limine regarding unrelated medical conditions discussed on pages 7-11 above, defense counsel *repeatedly* violated the trial court's order in limine regarding non-party fault by arguing and eliciting testimony that:

- it was improper for Dr. Wohns not to order a pre-operative MRI (RP 992-93, 1389);
- Dr. Wohns does not know how to read MRI films and determine whether the foramina were in fact decompressed (RP 932-34, 969-70, 1107, 1330);
- Dr. Wohns was wrong when he diagnosed Mr. Clark with cauda equina syndrome in March 2010 and is wrong that he has cauda equina syndrome today (RP 1119, 1160, 1338, 1362);
- Dr. Wohns either lied or incompetently stated that he did a "total L5 laminectomy" in his operative report (RP 972, 1163, 1172);
- it was improper for Dr. Wohns to fail to include the exact location of the CSF leak that he discovered in his medical record (RP 1165-66);
- if Dr. Wohns identified a CSF leak and did not tell Mr. Clark, that was a violation of the standard of care (RP 320-21, 1169);

- Dr. Wohns must have lied about doing the dural repair because sutures were not found when Harborview did surgery two months later (RP 1164, 1174, 1185, 1535);
- Dr. Wohns should not have "over-sewn" the wound before his second surgery (RP 1175);
- over-sewing the wound *caused* Mr. Clark's meningitis (RP 1228, 1541);
- it was improper for Dr. Wohns to not send the CSF that he found in his March 23 surgery for testing (RP 1533);
- the surgery Dr. Wohns performed was not medically necessary (RP 1118-19, 1223);
- Dr. Wohns failed to fix the first CSF leak and failed to fix the second CSF leak (RP 1223-24);
- a *resident* at Harborview fixed what Dr. Wohns could not (RP 152, 1180, 1224); and
- it was improper for Dr. Wohns not to get Mr. Clark's previous medical records or to discuss the patient with Dr. Teng (RP 1301, 1362).

In addition to these improper standard of care arguments, defense counsel

accused Dr. Wohns of "record manipulation ... to make my client look

bad." RP 1535 (emphasis added). All of this occurred in the presence of

the jury and in direct violation of the trial court's order in limine and

repeated warnings regarding non-party fault.

On this record, the trial court did not err (let alone abuse its discretion) when it found that "Defense counsel violated the Court's

rulings and orders multiple times" and that this improper conduct

"continued throughout the entire trial." CP 473-74 ¶ 6. Nor did the trial

court abuse its discretion or otherwise err when it again found – after reviewing Defendants' motion for reconsideration with lengthy declarations and attachments (CP 542-620) – that "[t]here were numerous violations by the defense of the Court's Order Re: Motions in Limine," that the court "repeatedly warned Defense counsel to change their conduct," and that "[d]espite all of the Court's warnings, this behavior continued." CP 660-61 ¶¶ 1, 3, 4. The Court should uphold these findings, particularly given "the deferential review appropriate to misconduct findings in civil cases." *Teter*, 174 Wn.2d at 223.

Because the record confirms that defense counsel repeatedly violated the trial court's orders in limine despite continued warnings, it is not necessary to determine whether defense counsel's misconduct prejudiced Plaintiffs' right to a fair trial. That is because, under *Teter*, "misconduct that continues after warnings can give rise to a *conclusive implication* of prejudice." *Id.* (emphasis added). But even without a conclusive implication of prejudice, the prejudice to Plaintiffs is undeniable. The evidence regarding Dr. Wohns was elicited with a singular purpose: to persuade the jury that Plaintiffs had sued the wrong surgeon. And that was *exactly* the message that the jury received. During trial, a juror asked: "Have you thought of bringing a lawsuit against Dr. Wohns?" RP 1603; CP 335-36.¹

Additional prejudice was caused by defense counsel's repeated violations of the trial court's order in limine regarding unrelated medical conditions. That evidence improperly suggested that Mr. Clark had other medical conditions that could have caused his damages and/or that Mr. Clark was a generally unhealthy person. On top of that, by repeatedly revealing to the jury medical conditions that Plaintiffs had not previously acknowledged and by directing their witnesses to documents that had not been properly redacted (*see, e.g.*, RP 1086, referring witness to references to sleep apnea on page 84 of Ex. 115), defense counsel necessarily left "the jury with the impression that the objecting party is hiding something important." *Teter*, 174 Wn.2d at 223.

The Court in *Teter* also reiterated that "'[t]he trial court is in the best position to most effectively determine if [counsel's] misconduct prejudiced a [party's] right to a fair trial." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Lord*, 117 Wn.2d 829, 887, 822 P.2d 177 (1991)) (bracketed text in original). Here too, the trial court was in the best position to most effectively determine

¹ The trial court declined to ask the witness the foregoing juror question. Because it was discussed by the court and counsel outside of the courtroom, it is memorialized in briefing (CP 335-36) and argument (RP 1603).

whether defense counsel's misconduct prejudiced Plaintiffs' right to a fair trial. Having observed that misconduct first-hand, the trial court found that "[t]he cumulative effect of Defense counsel's conduct warrants a new trial, as it clearly casts doubt on whether a fair trial occurred." CP 475 ¶ 13. Because the record supports that finding, and because the standard of review is highly deferential, this Court should affirm.

B. Defendants Do Not Even Attempt To Argue That The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion, And The Arguments They Assert Regarding Trial Court Error Easily Fail.

As noted on page two above, Defendants do not assert anywhere in their brief that the trial court *abused its discretion*. Instead, their only argument is that the trial court *erred*. As a result, if this Court concludes that the applicable standard of review is abuse of discretion, then the appeal can properly be resolved on waiver grounds because there is *no argument* that the trial court abused its discretion. *See, e.g., Stuewe v. State Dep't of Revenue*, 98 Wn. App. 947, 950, 991 P.2d 634 (2000) (where appellant "cites no authority nor makes any argument" regarding an issue on appeal, "these issues are waived"). If the Court instead considers the merits of Defendants' arguments, those arguments fail for the reasons set forth below.

1. Contrary To Defendants' Argument, The Trial Court Issued Detailed Reasons Of Law And Fact And Its Rulings Comply With CR 59(e).

Rather than begin their argument by defending the conduct of their attorneys, Defendants begin by attacking the trial court: they claim that "[t]he trial court did not comply with the CR 59(f) mandate that his order contain 'definite reasons of law and fact.'" Opening Brief at 28. Defendants then claim that the Court should "reverse and *reinstate the jury's verdict* for failure to enter the correct findings." *Id.* at 31 (emphasis added). Defendants are wrong in both respects.

Defendants' argument that the trial court did not adequately state the reasons of law and fact for its rulings is directly contrary to *Teter*. As noted previously, Judge González issued detailed reasons of law and fact in *Teter*. For his reasons of fact, Judge González found that defense counsel repeatedly violated the court's orders in limine. 174 Wn.2d at 215. For his reasons of law, Judge González identified the applicable legal standard and concluded that a new trial was warranted because the "cumulative effect of defense counsel's misconduct throughout the trial proceedings ... casts doubt on whether a fair trial had occurred." *Id*.

This case is no different. Just as Judge González did in *Teter*, the trial court here correctly ruled that a motion for a new trial should be

granted "only if the trial court firmly believes that the conduct complained of is of such a level that it casts doubt on whether or not a fair trial occurred." CP 472 ¶ 1. Also like Judge González in *Teter*, the trial court in this matter found that defense counsel repeatedly violated the court's orders in limine:

- "Defense counsel violated the Court's rulings and orders multiple times." CP 473 ¶ 6.
- "This [improper conduct] continued throughout the entire trial." CP 474 ¶ 6.
- "There were numerous violations by the defense of the Court's Order Re: Motions in Limine." CP 660 ¶ 1.
- The court "repeatedly warned Defense counsel to change their conduct." CP 661 ¶ 3.
- The court "expressed frustration and concern about the conduct of Defense counsel." *Id.*
- "Despite all of the Court's warnings, this behavior continued." CP 661 ¶ 4.

Nor is it surprising that the trial court's rulings track those of Judge

González in Teter, as the court's order granting Plaintiffs' motion for a

new trial not only cites CR 59(f) but also states that the court reviewed

Judge González's order granting a new trial in Teter before issuing the

ruling at issue here. CP 472 (item no. 9 and lines 11-12).

The Supreme Court upheld Judge González's approach in Teter.

Just as Defendants argue here, the court of appeals ruled in Teter "that

Judge González's findings were too general and nonspecific to support his conclusion that defense counsel's misconduct deprived the Teters of a fair trial." 174 Wn.2d at 222. The Supreme Court disagreed with that ruling and held that "the Court of Appeals appears to have substituted its own judgment for that of the trial court." *Id.* at 223. It then held that Judge González's findings "are supported by the record" and that Judge González "made these findings under the appropriate legal standard." *Id.* at 225. As the above discussion shows, the same reasoning and result apply equally here.

The cases cited by Defendants, in contrast, can be distinguished easily. In *Dybdahl v. Genesco*, 42 Wn. App. 486, 713 P.2d 113 (1986) (Opening Brief at 29), for example, the trial court granted a new trial for five reasons. The first four reasons were that the trial court admitted certain evidence over the objection of plaintiff's counsel. 42 Wn. App. at 487. The court of appeals found those reasons insufficient under CR 59(e) because the trial court did not indicate why it was erroneous to admit the evidence nor did it explain why the evidence, if improperly admitted, was so prejudicial as to warrant a new trial. 42 Wn. App. at 488. The fifth reason, ignored entirely by Defendants here, was that the trial court commented on the evidence in the presence of the jury. *Id.* This fifth reason, the court of appeals ruled, "does give sufficiently definite reasons in law or fact for this court to review the order." *Id.* at 489.

The portion of *Dybdahl* relied upon by Defendants is easily distinguishable, and the portion they ignore is fatal to their argument. Unlike the first four reasons for granting a new trial in *Dybdahl*, the trial court's reasons here are sufficiently definite to permit appellate review: the trial court found that defense counsel repeatedly elicited evidence and argument that violated the court's orders in limine – including an order that "was based on ER 403 considerations" (CP 473 ¶ 3) – and then concluded that "[t]he cumulative effect of Defense counsel's conduct warrants a new trial, as it clearly casts doubt on whether a fair trial occurred" (CP 475 ¶ 13). The trial court provided significantly more detail than the trial court did in *Dybdahl* – even when compared to the fifth reason for granting a new trial in *Dybdahl*, which the court of appeals found sufficient. 42 Wn. App. at 489.

Defendants' reliance on *State v. Collins*, 72 Wn.2d 741, 435 P.2d 538 (1967) (Opening Brief at 31), is also misplaced. After the jury in *Collins* found the defendant guilty of second-degree burglary, the trial court granted a new trial for two reasons: (1) failure to give a requested instruction; and (2) because "the court disagreed with the jury's verdict on

the evidence." *Id.* at 744-45. The Supreme Court vacated the trial court's ruling granting a new trial and reinstated the jury's guilty verdict because it concluded that the trial court had not erred by failing to give the requested instruction and that the second reason for granting a new trial "is not a ground for awarding a new trial." *Id.* Here, in contrast, *Teter* confirms that attorney misconduct that casts doubt on whether a fair trial has occurred *is* an established ground for granting a new trial. *See supra* at 13-14. As a result, *Collins* is inapposite.

Lastly, Defendants also claim that the trial court's order granting Plaintiffs' motion for a new trial is deficient because (a) "nowhere in the order does the court explain the legal justification for criticizing defendants' causation defense or how a motion in limine could remove an element of plaintiffs' burden of proof" and (b) "it contains a catch-all phrase that implies other potential misconduct." Opening Brief at 30. Plaintiffs address the fault/causation issue in Section IV.B.3 below and the "other potential misconduct issue" in Section IV.B.4 below. In those respects as well, Defendants are mistaken.

23

2. Defense Counsel Were Required To Comply With The Trial Court's Order In Limine Regarding Unrelated Medical Conditions Notwithstanding Their Continued Disagreement With Those Rulings, And They Repeatedly Failed To Do So.

In addition to attacking the trial court's order granting Plaintiffs' motion for a new trial, Defendants also attack the trial court's order in limine regarding unrelated medical conditions. According to Defendants, "[t]he trial court's decision that anything 'above the waist' was off limits has no medical basis." Opening Brief at 44. Defendants made that same argument in the trial court. After violating the trial court's order in limine by eliciting testimony that Mr. Clark "woke up with a headache" because of his ongoing treatment "for sleep apnea" (RP 1087), defense counsel told the trial court: "The Court's ruling is that it's not relevant to anything, but in this context, the question of him having a headache *has to be explained* because it's distinguished from the postural headache." RP 1123 (emphasis added). And in response to Plaintiffs' motion for a new trial, defense counsel once again told the trial court: "The evidence you excluded was clearly admissible." RP 1596.

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